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Heritage Research Report
Stone Pillars at Entrance to Firelane 2, west side of Pinecrest Rd.
Lot 17, Concession 1, Humberstone township

North Side Pillar — adjacent to 414 Pinecrest Rd
South Side Pillar — adjacent to 394 Pinecrest Rd

Prepared by L.R. Wilson Archives staff, 3 March 2025

Historical Background:

In 1897, Buffalo real estate broker Frank Fulton Brown purchased 40 acres along the
lakeshore in Lots 19 and 20, Concession 1, Humberstone township from local farmers. While the
land was unsuitable for farming, it was perfect for cottages, as Brown recognized, and its
beaches were considered far superior to those on the American side of Lake Erie. Brown quickly
set out to develop a cottage community by having the 40 acres surveyed into 26 waterfront lots,
with the plan registered in 1901, and even before the registration, he had already sold several
lots. He named the community Lorraine after his only daughter. Brown built his own cottage at
the western edge of the community, and the first set of entrance pillars.! Brown’s former
business partner, Walter Dann, became one of the first buyers, and soon a number of Dann’s
relations also purchased lots, and in turn, their relatives and business colleagues also became
Lorraine summer residents. With very few exceptions, the people of Lorraine for its first three
decades were part of a tight network of prominent family and business connections from
Buffalo, New York which included political and business leaders.

The Lorraine community of cottages was originally limited to the lakeshore on Lots 19
and 20, Concession 1, Humberstone township between Lorraine and Weaver Roads. However, in
the early 1900s, it expanded east, along the lakeshore into Lots 17 and 18. In 1908, Frederick L.
Rohr Pope, Buffalo resident, decided to retire to Canada to become a gentleman farmer, and
purchased just over 50 acres of property, including farm buildings, on the south-east corner of
Lot 17 from Samuel Knisley which included the waterfront. Until at least 1913, the Pope
property had no through access from the west and the rest of the Lorraine community, but by
the time of Frederick Pope’s death in 1915, the Pope farm was considered to be part of
Lorraine, as the lane from James L. Crane’s cottage property in Lot 18 was gradually extended
eastward. Pope’s daughters, Virginia and Ada, sold their property to Lorraine owner, James L.
Crane in 1923 who sold part of it just a few weeks later to Bryant and Albertine Glenny. [See
Appendix #1] Within a few more years, several more lots were sold on the eastern side, and

1 The Brown cottage, 1001 Firelane 1, and the pillars on Firelane 1 at Lorraine Road received a Heritage

Designation from the City of Port Colborne in 2003.
https://www.heritagetrust.on.ca/oha/details?id=7235&backlinkslug=advanced-search&fields%5Blocation%5D=28%2C327



https://www.heritagetrust.on.ca/oha/details?id=7235&backlinkslug=advanced-search&fields%5Blocation%5D=28%2C327
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cottages built by new owners, filling in the gaps between the original Crane and Pope
properties.

The Lorraine summer community thrived, thanks in large part to the close ties among
the summer residents who were all American. They had their own flagstop station, called
Lorraine, on the Grand Trunk Railway; several daily trains in both ways connected the residents
with Buffalo. As automobiles became commonplace, the private roads, Firelanes 1 and 2, on the
north side of the sand hills, became the connecting links between the cottages, rather than the
beaches. Tennis lessons and tournaments, baseball games, horseback riding, 4t of July picnics,
and Memorial Day parties were all part of a busy social calendar throughout the summer. The
community remained exclusively American-owned until the Second World War. While many of
the cottages have now become year-round dwellings, there is still a strong sense of community
among the people of Lorraine.

There are no contemporary records regarding the construction of the pillars at the
entrance to Firelane 2 off Pinecrest Rd. Based upon historical tradition and circumstantial
evidence, construction dates for the pillars span from 1908 to the mid-1920s. It has been
suggested that Frederick Rohr Pope may have had them built between 1908 and 1915 to mark
the entrance to his farm and lakefront property, or that they were built when the private lane
opened access across Lots 17 and 18 from Weaver Rd to Pinecrest Rd. Another possible date for
construction given is ¢.1923 when Crane purchased the Pope farm, or very soon after, when he
sold several more lots in that section. Crane’s involvement in the stone pillars at Pinecrest Road
seems likely for several reasons. Crane was involved the construction of the concrete bridge
with similar spherical finials on Firelane 1 at Weaver Road, and he likely had the stone pillars on
Firelane 2 at Weaver Road built, since they were at the entrance to his cottage property. The
materials and construction of the pillars at Pinecrest Road are similar to those at Weaver Road,
although the pillars are much smaller.

Architectural Features:

The pillars at the Pinecrest Road entrance to Firelane 2 are square, approximately 5 feet
or 1.5 metres high, and are made of rough-hewn local stone. They were originally constructed
with mortar made with beach sand and have shallow (1 foot or 30 cm) stone foundations. The
stonework is capped with a cement capstone, and a cement finial is centred on the top of each
pillar, fastened with a layer of mortar. The spherical shape of the finial is reminiscent of the
much larger spherical finials on the Firelane 1 bridge. [See Appendix #2] The pillars are of a
simple, rustic design, and reflect the popularity of the Arts and Crafts movement of the late
nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. The style of these pillars, and the others marking the
entrances to Lorraine are very much in keeping with the rustic style of many of the early
cottages in the Lorraine summer community.
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The pillars have been repaired and repointed in the past with cement mortars and have
suffered damage from vehicles passing into the narrow lane. The south pillar has been adversely
affected by a tree which is undermining it.?

Historical Significance:

While the pillars at Pinecrest Road are the most modest of the three sets of pillars, they
are part of the tradition that seems to have developed of marking the entrances to the private
lanes of the Lorraine cottage community with pillars, and at the west end of Firelane 1, with a
bridge with square pillars and spherical finials. The access to these private roads was made
deliberately narrow by the placement of the pillars, a physical and visible cue that they are
entrances to private property. Their historical significance lies in their context and connections
to the history of the Lorraine summer community, and as part of the visual symbols which the
Lorraine community used to mark the entrances to the private roads to their cottages. The
construction of the stone pillars at the entrances of Lorraine may also have been inspired by
those built at the entrance to Tennessee Ave by the residents of the Humberstone Summer
Resort Company.3 The modest size of the Pinecrest pillars can be attributed to the fact that, in
the early decades of the Lorraine summer community, this entrance was the least used by the
summer residents. Most of the cottages were on Firelane 1, and the residents would have used
the Lorraine Road entrance to Firelane 1 since it was closest to the train flag stop.

2 A report on the condition of these pillars was completed in 2022. https://www.portcolborne.ca/en/living-
here/Restoration_of Tennessee Avenue and Firelane Pillars.aspx#Project-Schedule

3 The Tennessee Avenue gates received a heritage designation in 1983.
https://www.heritagetrust.on.ca/oha/details?id=7214&backlinkslug=advanced-search&fields%5Blocation%5D=28%2C327



https://www.portcolborne.ca/en/living-here/Restoration_of_Tennessee_Avenue_and_Firelane_Pillars.aspx#Project-Schedule
https://www.portcolborne.ca/en/living-here/Restoration_of_Tennessee_Avenue_and_Firelane_Pillars.aspx#Project-Schedule
https://www.heritagetrust.on.ca/oha/details?id=7214&backlinkslug=advanced-search&fields%5Blocation%5D=28%2C327
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Appendix #1

Abstracts for Lot 17, Conc 1, Humberstone township [Pope, Crane transactions]
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Appendix #2

Bridge on Firelane #1, built about 1910-1912
PCHMM 2015.3.11.2




